!WW" T S T T i N N G N i B B D i T i B T GO D T B L O m L |
4 L L . H - . \ " R - b . LA A F— F— F—— I St PR S o A

Mortgage Organisation
Kazakhstan Mortgage Company JSC

Consolidated Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2015



Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Mortgage Company J§C

Contents

mm
ded

Independent Auditors’ Report

Sl

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income 5
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 6
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 7-8

sl

=

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 9-10

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 11-55

preR pER PN PR B R el o
. . Lo [ o G i p— A

g

e

prmreey

r
L

e



i3

o e

1
i

i

rmnm ] s Ry ez [

il

ooy,

«KIMME Aymirm sxayangepluiniri KPMG Audit LLC

IWeRTeY R cepikTectik 050051 Almaty, 180 Dostyk Avenue,
05005F Anmares, JoCrsIk a-snt 180, E-mail: company@kpmg.kz

Ten fhare 8 {727) 298-08-98, 298-07-08

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Board of Directors of Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Mortgage Company JSC

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Mortgage Organisation
Kazakhstan Mortgage Company JSC (the “Company™) and its subsidiaries (the “Group™), which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors” Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, inchuding the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

«KINMI™ Ayanste JKUIC, Kxsakeraie PecnyGussaceumibig zngesiacet Goiilinuma tipkeanoy sovmanza zone Wecfivapig saimavacn Boiismuwa tipreara: KPMG Internationa? Cooperative (*KPMG
International""} kayeraeTarana kiperin KPMG myvencis dupaanap sweaicinin yyweei

KPMG Audit LLC, a company incorporaled under the Laws of the Republic of Kazakhstan, a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms afiiliated with KPMG Interaational
Cooperative ("KPMG Internalional”™, a Swiss entity.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2015, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Ravshan Irmatov
Certified Auditor
of the Republic of Kazakhstan,
Auditor’s Qualification Certificate
No M®d-0000053 of 6 January 2012

KPMG Audit LLC

State Licence to conduct audit # 0000021 dated 6 December 2006 issued by the Ministry of Finance
of the Republic of Kazakhsta

RKPMG Atdit LLC

29 February 2016



Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Morigage Company JSC
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Note KZT°000 KZT’000

Interest income 4 18,217,552 15,782,259
Interest expense 4 (11,084,491) (11,606,101)
Net interest income 7,133,061 4,176,158
Fee and commission income 1,284 1,860
Fee and commission expense (390,976) (394,088)
Net fee and commission expense (389,092) (392,228)
Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets 2,294 -
Net foreign exchange gain 5 2,037,785 46,519
Net loss from repurchase of debt securities issued (1,718) (65.,424)
Other operating income 425,293 184,370
Operating income 9,207,023 3,949,395
Impairment losses 6 (1,029,142) (604,651)
Personnel expenses (1,499,321) (1,163,931)
General administrative expenses 8 (1,181,768) (715,176)
Profit before income tax 5,496,792 1,465,637
Income tax expense 9 (1,670,970) (281,628)
Profit for the year 3,825,822 1,184,009
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
Revaluation reserve for available-for-sale financial
assets:

- Net change in fair value (986,355) (265,028)

- Net change in fair value transferred to profit or

loss (2,294) -

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of
income tax (988,649) (265,028)
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,837,173 918,981
Basic and diluted earnings per share, in KZT 24(f) 688 223

The consolidated financial statements as set out on pages 5 to 55 were approved by Management

on 29 February 2016 and were signed on its behalf by:

*KA3AKCTAH
WNOTEKANB
KOMMAHWACKHI»

’

Dosmukhametov B.S.
Acting chairman of the Managem

MNOTEKANBIK
¥YAbiMb»

(D

Toktarkozha A.T.
Chief Accountant

8

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with
the notes to, and forming part of, the consolidated financial statements.
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Mortgage Orvganisation Kazakhstan Morvtgage Company JSC
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2015

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Placements with banks and other financial institutions
Available-for-sale financial assets

Loans to customers

Finance lease receivables

Held-to-maturity investments

Current tax asset

Advances paid under {inance lease agreements
Assets to be fransferred under finance lease agreements
Construction in progress

Property and equipment

Investment property

Deferred tax asset

Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Debt securities issued

Subordinated debt securities issued

QOther borrowed funds

Deferred income

Other Habilities

Total liabilities

EQUITY

Share capital

Share premium

Treasury shares

Additional paid-in capital

Reserve capital

Revaluation reserve for available-for-sale financial assets
Accumulated losses

Total equity

Total equity and liabilities

Note

10
11
12
13
14

15
16
17

18

2015 2014
KZ1°000 KZT000
26,811,589 13,970,781
17,337,140 24,361,759
13,960,071 9,632,176
81,755,207 87,193,112
31,434,418 2,325,891

- 10,231,995

2,310,235 1,310,488
25,916,895 1,670,392
26,503,605 2,482,252

9,644,010 6,339,436

1,743,083 1,727,239

1,606,119 1,466,929

83,847 1,754,817
4,433,235 2,867,676
243,539,454 167,334,993
57,983,488 77,188,204

9,981,675 9,809,666
40,060,673 28,808,521
78,088,020 ;
10,025,810 6,610,782

196,139,666 122,417,173
58,113,800 58,113,800
12,661 12,661
(2,597,522) (2,597,522)
5,822,856 5,822,856
2,734,447 2,734 447
(1,718,884) (730,235)
(14,967,570) (18,438,187)
47,399,788 44,917,820
243,539,454 167,334,993

6

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming

part of, the consolidated financial statements.
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Mortgage Organisation Kazakhistan Morigage Company JSC
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before income tax

Adjustments for non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation

Impairment losses

Interest income

Interest expense

Net foreign exchange gain

Net gain on available-for-sale {inancial assets

Net loss from repurchase of debt securities issued

(Increase) decrease in operating assets

Placements with banks and other financial institutions
Loans to customers

Finance lease receivables

Advances paid under finance lease agreements

Assets to be transferred under finance lease agreements
Construction in progress

Other assets

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities

Other liabilities

Net cash used in operating activities before interest and
income tax paid

Income tax paid

Interest received

Interest paid

Cash flows used in operations

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming part of, the consolidated

financial statements.

2015 2014
KZT°000 KZT’000
5,496,792 1,465,637
93,931 109,358
1,029,142 604,651
(18,217,552) (15,782,259)
11,084,491 11,606,101
(2,037,785) (46,519)
(2,294) .
1,718 65,424
(2,551,557) (1,977,607)
17,075,105 (5,795,436)
12,904,195 15,012,690
(29,413,402) (2,312,552)
(24,246,503) (1,670,392)
(24,021,353) (2,482,252)
(3,304,524) (4,896,968)
(1,605,696) (836,958)
1,170,652 (52)
(53,993,083) (4,959,527)
(1,007,242) (502,853)
15,908,889 14,226,691
(8,774,182) (9,045,616)
(47,865,618) (281,305)
7
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Mortgage Organisation Kazakhistan Mortgage Company JSC
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Sale and redemption of held-to-maturity investments (Note 12)

Redemption and sale of available-for-sale financial assets
Acquisition of available-for-sale {inancial assets
Purchases of property, equipment and intangible assets
Sales of investment property

Cash flews from investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of share capital

Proceeds from debt securities issued
Repurchase/redemption of debt securities issued
Receipts of other borrowed funds

Repayment of other borrowed funds

Dividends paid

Cash flows from financing activities

Net increase in eash and cash equivalents

Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (Note 10)

2015 2014
KZT?000 KZT*000

3,710,029 669,120
748 360 471,509

- (1,186,321)
(129,715) (155,069)
65,190 238,031
4,393,868 37,270

- 14,193,800

- 6,896,272
(32,494,767) (15,768,569)
92,500,000 -
(3,633,333) -
(355,205) -
56,016,695 5,321,503
12,544,945 5,077,468
295,863 346,976
13,970,781 8,546,337
26,811,589 13,970,781

g

The consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming part of,

the consolidated financial statements.
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Mortgage Organisation Kazakhistan Morigage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Background

Organisation and operations

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Mortgage Organisation
Kazakhstan Mortgage Company JSC (the “Company™) and its fully-owned subsidiaries, United
Payment Systems JSC and Kazakhstan Housing-Construction Corporation JSC (together referred
to as the “Group”).

The Company was established on 29 December 2000 in accordance with the Decree #469 of the
National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan (the “NBRK™) dated 20 December 2000. The
principal activity of the Company is issuance of mortgage loans in accordance with the license of
regulatory authorities. The Company may additionally perform trust, factoring, forfeiting and
leasing operations.

On 12 April 2010 the Company obtained a banking license #5.1.69 on banking lending transactions.
The activities of the Company are regulated by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

The Company’s registered office is 98, Karasay Batyr st, 050012, Almaty, Kazakhstan. The
Company has a representative office in Astana.

Under the realisation of the Program “Affordable Housing-2020" the Company established a
subsidiary company, United Payment Systems LLC (state registration certificate of a legal entity
No  1266-1910-02-TOO dated 9 July 2012). The main functions of the subsidiary are
communications with potential lessees, conclusion of rent and utilities (inaintenance) agreements,
collection and arrangement of lease payments and payments relating to servicing of current
mortgage transactions, and control over completeness and timeliness of cash flows,

United Payment Systems LLC established a subsidiary in the form of the joint-stock company,
Kazakhstan Housing-Construction Corporation JSC (state registration certificate of a legal entity
No 1559-1910-02-A0 dated 6 August 2012). In accordance with the Decree #821 of the Government
of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated 21 June 2012 the main functions of the subsidiary are
organisation and holding tenders (biddings) for development of design and estimate documentation,
construction and installation works, selection of a confracting construction and mounting
organisation, support in carrying out state expert reviews, organisation of construction of rental
houses, project finance, financing of construction of rental houses, engineering supervision on all
stages of construction, acceptance and setting of houses into exploitation.

On 14 November 2014 the Management Board of Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Mortgage
Company JSC approved a reorganisation plan, under which during 2015 Kazakhstan Housing-
Construction Corporation JSC will be merged with its parent company United Payment Systems
LLC, which later will be merged with its parent company, Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan
Mortgage Company JSC.

On 21 July 2015 Kazakhstan Housing-Construction Corporation JSC was merged with its parent
company, United Payment Systems JSC. On 13 November 2015 United Payment Systems JSC
merged with its parent company, Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Mortgage Company JSC.

Shareholders

As at 31 December 2015 the Group is wholly-owned by the National Management Holding
Baiterek JSC (“Baiterek™),

11
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Mortgage Organisation Kazalhstan Morigage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

Background, continued
Kazakhstan business environment

The Group’s operations are primarily located in Kazakhstan. Consequently, the Group is exposed
to the economic and financial markets of Kazakhstan, which display characteristics of an emerging
market. The legal, tax and regulatory frameworks continue development, but are subject to varying
interpretations and frequent changes which together with other legal and fiscal impediments
contribute o the challenges faced by entities operating in Kazakhstan. In addition, the recent
significant depreciation of the Kazakhstan tenge, and the reduction in the global price of oil, have
increased the level of uncertainty in the business enviromment.

The consolidated financial statements reflect managemeni’s assessment of the impact of the
Kazakhstan business environment on the operations and the financial position of the Group. The
future business enviromment may differ from management’s assessment.

Basis of preparation
Statement of compliance

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS™).

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that available-

for-sale financial assets are s{ated at {air value.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is the Kazakhstan tenge (“KZT™) as,
being the national currency of the Republic of Kazakhstan, it reflects the economic substance of the
majority of underlying events and circumstances relevant to them.

The KZT 1s also the presentation currency for the purposes of these consolidated financial
statements.

Financial information presented in KZT is rounded to the nearest thousand.

Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying
accounting policies is described in the following notes:

¢ Available-for-sale financial assets — Note 12;
e Loans to customers — Note 13;

s Other borrowed funds — Note 21.

Change in accounting policies

The Group has adopted the following new amendment to standards, including any consequential
amendments to other standards, with a date of initial application of 1 January 2015.

12



£
£

e

i

wal

prn

[

e

o

i

[

provses

|

)
@

(ii)

(b}

Morigage Organisation Kazakhstan Morigage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

Basis of preparation, continued
Change in accounting policies, continued

o Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation).

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation - Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities do not introduce new rules for offsetting financial assets and
liabilities; rather they clarify the offsetting criteria to address inconsistencies in their application.
The Amendments specify that an entity currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off if that
right is not contingent on a future event; and enforceable both in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity and all counterparties.

The Group does not expect that these amendments will have an impact on its financial statements
as the Group does not present financial assets and {inancial liabilities on net basis in the statement
of financial position.

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below are applied consistently to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements, except as explained in Note 2(e), which addresses changes in
accounting policies.

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are investees controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. In particular, the Group
consolidates investees that it controls on the basis of de facto circumstances. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that contro] ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised gains arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains except that they are only eliminated to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Group
entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and labilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency
at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the
difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted
for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency
translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value is determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate
at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised
in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity
instruments unless the difference is due to impairment in which case foreign currency differences
that have been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss; a
financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent
that the hedge is effective; or qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedge is effective,
which are recognised in other comprehensive income.

13



Sy

[

LA <

1
s

il

e

e

d

3

s

gmony

prom

iy

ey

Mortgage Organisation Kagakhstan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
Significant accounting policies, continued
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, the Group’s current accounts in the commercial banks and
highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject
to msignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of
short-term commitments. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Financial instruments

Classification

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets or liabilities that are:
- acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term

- part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there
is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking

- derivative financial instruments (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a
designated and effective hedging instruments) or,

- upon initial recognition, designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group may designate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss where
either:

- the assets or labilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis

- the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would
otherwise arise or,

- the asset or liability contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows
that would otherwise be required under the contract.

All trading derivatives in a net receivable position (positive fair value), as well as options purchased,
are reported as assets. All trading derivatives in a net payable position (negative fair value), as well
as options written, are reported as liabilities,

Management determines the appropriate classification of financial instruments in this category at
the time of initial recognition. Derivative financial instruments and financial instruments designated
as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition are not reclassified out of at fair value
through profit or loss category. Financial assets that would have met the definition of loans and
receivables may be reclassified outl of the at fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale
category if the Group has an intention and ability to hold them for the foreseeable future or until
maturity. Other financial instruments may be reclassified out of the at fair value through profit or
loss category only in rare circamstances. Rare circumstances arise from a single event that is
unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the near term.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market, other than those that the Group:

- intends to sell immediately or in the near term
- upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss
- upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale or,

- may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration.
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Mortgage Organisation Kazalhistan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

Significant accounting policies, continued

Financial instruments, continued

Classification, continued

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity,
other than those that:

- the Group upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss
- the Group designates as available-for-sale or,
- meet the definition of loans and receivables.

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as
available-for-sale or are nol classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

Recognition

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way
purchases of financial assets are accounted for at the setilement date,

Measurement

A financial asset or liability is initially measured at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
or liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or liability.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets, including derivatives that are assets, are measured
at their fair values, without any deduction for transaction costs that may be incurred on sale or other
disposal, except for:

- loans and receivables which are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method
- held-to-maturity investments which are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method

- investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured which are measured at cost.

All financial liabilities, other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss and financial
liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset carried at fair value does not qualify for
derecognition, are measured at amortised cost,

Amortised cost

The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or
liability is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest rate method of any difference between the initial amount
recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment. Premiums and discounts,
including initial transaction costs, are included in the carrying amount of the related instrument and
amortised based on the effective interest rate of the instrument.

Fair value measurement principles

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its
absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value
of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

15



-
i

o

e

sty

0]
)

(i)

(vii)

Mortgage Orvganisation Kazakhstan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements for the vear ended 31 December 2015

Significant accounting policies, continued
KFinancial instruments, continued
Fair value measurement principles, continued

When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an active
market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability
take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

When there is no quoted price in an active market, the Group uses valuation techniques that
maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The
chosen valuation technique incorporates all the factors that market participants would take into
account in these circumstances.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the
{ransaction price, .., the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines
that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is
evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or lability nor based
on a valuation technique that uses enly data from observable markets, the financial instrument is
initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial
recognition and the (ransaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss
on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is
supported wholly by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, the Group measures
assets and long positions at the bid price and liabilities and short positions at the ask price.

Gains and losses on subsequent measurement

A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a financial asset or liability is recognised
as follows:

-a gain or loss on a financial instrument classified as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised
in profit or loss

- a gain or loss on an available-for-sale financial asset is recognised as other comprehensive income
in equity (except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses on debt financial
instruments available-for-sale) until the asset is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in profit or loss. Interest in relation to an
available-for-sale financial asset is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest rate
method.

For financial assefs and liabilities carried at amortised cost, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss when the financial asset or liability is derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation
process.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not
retain control of the financial asset. Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for
derecognition that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group derecognises a financial liability
when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it (ransfers assets recognised on its consolidated
statement of financial position, but retains either all risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a
portion of them. If all or substantially all risks and rewards are retained, then the transferred assets
are not derecognised.
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Mortgage Organisation Kazahhstan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

3 Significant accounting policies, continued
€l) TFinancial instruments, continued

i) Derecognition, continued

In transactions where the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a financial asset, it derecognises the asset if conirol over the asset is lost.

In transfers where control over the asset is retained, the Group continues to recognise the asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes
in the value of the transferred assets.

ol

4

If the Group purchases its own debd, it is removed from the consolidated statement of financial
position and the difference between the carrying amount of the liability and the consideration paid
is included in gains or losses arising from early retirement of debt.

The Group writes off assets deemed to be uncollectible.
(viii}  Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments include swaps, forwards, futures, spot transactions and options in

interest rates, foreign exchanges, precious metals and stock markets, and any combinations of these
instruments.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivatives are carried as assets when their
fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Derivatives may be embedded in ancther contractual arrangement (a host contract), An embedded
derivative is separated from the host contract and is accounted for as a derivative if, and only if the
economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely refated to the
economic characteristics and risks of the host contract, a separate instrument with the same terms
as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the combined instrument
1s not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Derivatives
embedded in financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are not
separated.

(ix)  Offsetting

& Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement

£ of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and

£ there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

- {e) Leases

P The Group’s lease transactions are classified as either financing or operating leases at inception in
- accordance with IAS 17 Leases.

o Finance leases are [eases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership of

. an asset. Title may or may not eventually be transferred. Whether a lease is a finance lease or an
L operating lease depends on the substance of the transaction rather than the form of the contract. The
indicators for finance lease classification are:

¢
¢ The lease transfers ownership of the asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term

£

= ¢ The lessee has the option to purchase the asset at a price which is expected to be sufficiently

£ lower than the fair value at the date the option becomes exercisable such that, at the inception of

o the lease, it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised

- e The lease term is for the major part of the economic life of the asset even if title is not transferred
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Morigage Organisation Kazakhstan Movigage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 Deceniber 2015

Significant accounting peolicies, continued
Leases, continued

e At the inception of the lease the present value of the minimum lease payments amounts to at
least sabstantially all of the fair value of the leased asset, or

o The leased assets are of a specialised nature such that only the lessee can use them without major
modifications being made.

The Group as a lessor initially measures finance leases at an amount equal to the net investment in
the lease. Subsequently the recognition of finance income is based on a pattern reflecting a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment in the finance lease.

FForeclosed assets

Foreclosed assets are measured af the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of foreclosed
assets is based on the specific identification principle and recorded at net book value of underlying
lease at foreclosure date.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

Property and equipment
Owned assets

Items of property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Where an item of property and equipment comprises major components having different useful
lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property and equipment.

Leased assets

Leases under which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Equipment acquired by way of finance lease is stated at the amount
equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments at inception
of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
the individual assets. Depreciation commences on the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally
constructed assets, from the time an asset is completed and ready for use. Land is not depreciated.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Building 8-100 years
Computer equipment 2-10 years
Vehicles 5-7 years
Other 3-20 years

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire
and bring to use the specific software.

Amortisation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
mtangible assets. The estimated useful lives vary from 1 year for programme software to 20 years
for licenses.
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Morigage Organisation Kazakhstan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

Significant accounting policies, continued
Investment property

Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for
both, but not for sale in normal course of business, or for the use in production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Investment property is measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified
as property and equipment, its carrying value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for
subsequent accounting.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, that are expected to be
recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for sale.
Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets, or components of a disposal group,
are remeasured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter generally, the assets,
or disposal group, are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.

Enventories

Inventories include assels to be transferred under finance lease apreements and other inventory,
Assets to be transferred under finance lease are real estate objects acquired by the Group and
transferred to the lessees once the title of ownership on objects is obtained. Inventories are measured
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the weighted average
cost principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or
conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.
In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of
production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. If any such evidence exists, the Group
determines the amount of any impairment loss.

A finanecial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if,
and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the financial asset (a loss event) and that event (or events) has had an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a
borrower, breach of loan covenants or conditions, restructuring of financial asset or group of
financial assets that the Group would not otherwise consider, indications that a borrower or issuer
will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security, deterioration in the value
of collateral, or other observable data related to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the
payment status of borrowers in the group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the
group.

In addition, for an investment in an equity security available-for-sale a significant or prolonged
decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

Financial assets carried at amortised cost consist principally of loans and other receivables (loans
and receivables). The Group reviews its loans and receivables to assess impairment on a regular
basis.
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Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Morigage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

Significant accounting policies, continued
Impairment, continued
Financial assets carried at amortised cost, continued

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of an impairment exists individually for loans
and receivables that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for loans and
receivables that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed loan or receivable, whether significant or not, it
includes the loan or reccivable in a group of loans and receivables with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Loans and receivables that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a loan or receivable has been incurred, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the loan or
receivable and the present value of estimated future cash flows including amounts recoverable from
guarantees and collateral discounted at the loan or receivable’s original effective interest rate.
Contractual cash flows and historical loss experience adjusted on the basis of relevant observable
data that reflect current economic conditions provide the basis for estimating expected cash flows.

In some cases the observable data required to estimate the amount of impairment loss on a loan or
receivable may be limited or no longer fully relevant to current circumstances. This may be the case
when a borrower is in financial difficulties and there is little available historical data related to
similar borrowers. In such cases, the Group uses its experience and judgment to estimate the amount
of any impairment loss.

All impairment losses in respect of loans and receivables are recognised in profit or loss and are
only reversed if a subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. The
Group writes off a loan balance (and any related allowances for loan losses) when management
determines that the loans are uncollectible and when all necessary steps to collect the loan are
completed.

Financial assets carvied at cost

Financial assets carried at cost include unquoted equity instruments inciuded in available-for-sale
financial assets that are not carried at fair value because their fair value cannot be reliably measured.
If there is objective evidence that such investments are impaired, the impairment loss is calculated
as the difference between the carrying amount of the investment and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset.

All impairment losses in respect of these investments are recognised in profit or loss and cannot be
reversed.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by transferring the
cumulative loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from other comprehensive
income to profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment
and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit
or loss. Changes in impairment provisions attributable to time value are reflected as a component
of interest income.
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Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Morigage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

Significant accounting policies, continued
Impairment, continued
Available-for-sale financial assets, continued

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases
and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal
recognised in profit or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired
available-for-sale equity security is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Non financial assefs

Other non financial assets, other than deferred taxes, are assessed at each reporting date for any
indications of impairment. The recoverable amount of non financial assefs is the greater of their fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is
recognised when the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount.

All impairment Josses in respect of non financial assets are recognised in profit or loss and reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Any
impairment loss reversed is only reversed to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation,
if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Government grants

Government grants are assistance by the Government, Government agencies and state-owned
entities in the form of transfers of resources to the Group in return for past or future compliance
with certain conditions relating to the operating activities of the Group. Government grants are not
recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attached to them and the grants will be received. If there are conditions that may require repayment,
the grant is recognised as a “deferred income™ in other liabilities.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant.
The benefit of the below-market rate of interest is measured as the difference between the initial
carrying value of the loan determined as described in Note 3(d) (iii) and the proceeds received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which
the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the
liability.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
ordinary shares and share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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Morvigage Organisation Kazakhstan Morvigage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

3  Significant accounting policies, continued
(o) Share capital, continued

(i} Treasury shares

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid,
including directly attributable costs, is recognised as a decrease in equity.

(iii)  Dividends

The ability of the Company to declare and pay dividends is subject to the rules and regulations of
the Kazakhstan legislation.

Dividends in relation to ordinary shares are reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings in the
period when they are declared.

(p) Taxation

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that it relates to items of other comprehensive income or transactions with shareholders
recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised within other comprehensive income or
directly within equity.

B Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income [or the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for

taxation purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for the following temporary

differences: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities

£ that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit and temporary differences related to investments in
» subsidiaries, where the parent is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
L and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
3

o Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in respect of temporary differences between the

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would
follow the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
P the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilitics are measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the
temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the temporary differences, unused tax losses and credits can be
utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

e

(q) Income and expense recognition

jaete)

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

ez

Loan origination fees, loan servicing fees and other fees that are considered to be integral to the
overall profitability of a loan, together with the related transaction costs, are deferred and amortised
to interest income over the estimated life of the financial instrument using the effective interest rate
method.

B Lo

Other fees, commissions and other income and expense items are recognised in profit or loss when
the corresponding service is provided.

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the dividend is declared.

]
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Morigage Organisation Kazalkhstan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 201 5

3 Sigpificant accounting policies, continued

€) Income and expense recognition, continued

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease
expense, over the term of the Jease.

P {1} Scgment reporting

5 An operating segment is a component of a Group that engages in business activities from which it
may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions
[ with other components of the saime Group}; whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment

£ and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available,

(s)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective as at
31 December 2015, and are not applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Of
these pronouncements, potentially the following will have an impact on the financial position and
performance. The Group plans to adopt these pronouncements when they become effective. The
Group has not yet analysed the likely impact of the new standards on its financial position and
performance.

o IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is to be issued in phases and replaces International Financial
Reporting Standard TAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The first
phase of IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and relates to the classification and measurement
of financial assets. The second phase regarding the classification and measurement of financial
liabilities was published in October 2010, The third phase of IFRS 9 was issued in November

i 2013 and relates to general hedge accounting. The standard was finalised and published in July
» 2014. The final phase relates to a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment.

L. The Group recognises that the new standard introduces many changes to accounting for

- financial instruments and is likely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial

L statements. The Group has not analysed the impact of these changes yet. The Group does not

e intend to adopt this standard carly. The standard will be effective for annual periods beginning

£ on or after 1 January 2018 and will be applied retrospectively with some exemptions.

P e Various mprovements to IFRS are dealt with on a standard-by-standard basis. All amendments,

which result in accounting changes for presentation, recognition or measurement purposes, will

£ come into effect not earlier than 1 July 2015. The Group has not yet analysed the likely impact
_ of the improvements on its financial position or performance.

:

L.

L

L
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Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Morigage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

Net interest income

2015 2014
KZT°000 KZT'000
Interest income
Loans to customers 8,661,771 10,266,017
Cash and cash equivalents 4,851,634 656,920
Placements with banks and other financial institutions 2,024,128 2,714,452
Finance lease receivables 1,226,104 27,116
Available-for-sale {inancial assets 1,099,695 860,117
Held-to-maturity investments 163,647 893,312
Reverse repurchase agreements 66,889 241,264
Other assets 123,684 123,061
18,217,552 15,782,259
Interest expense
Debt securities issued (6,999,722) (8,043,682)
Other borrowed funds (3,083,564} (2,417,163)
Subordinated debt securities issued {972,010) (942,779
Recognition of discount on long-term receivable (29,195) (202.477)
(11,084,491) {11,606,101)
Net interest income 7,133,061 4,176,158
B Included within various line items under interest income for the year ended 31 December 2015 is a

total of KZT 784,680 thousand (2014: KZT 723,085 thousand} accrued on impaired financial assets.

5 Net foreign exchange gain

s 2015 2014

P KZT°000 KZT1°000

o Dealing, net (6,726,081) (1,049,620

g Translation differences, net 8,763,866 1,096,139

E 2,037,785 46,519

= 6 Impairment losses

g i 2015 2014

v - KZT*000 KZT°000

i Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 12) (370,743) 111,591

g ) Finance lease receivables (Note 14) {338,459) -
Loans to customers (Note 13) (280,868) {323.,436)
Held-to-maturity investments (24,966) (218,695)
Investiment property - (172,477
Other assets (Note 18) (14,106) (1,634)

P (1,029,142) (604,651)

L. 7  Personnel expenses

i, 2015 2014

KZT°000 KZT1°000

Employee compensation 1,359,531 1,058,439

- Salary related taxes 139,790 105,492

L. 1,499,321 1,163,931
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Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Moerigage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statemenis for the year ended 31 December 2015

§  General administrative expenses

2015 2014
KZT 000 KZT000
Taxes other than on income 415,340 96,913
Professional services 168,790 64,342
Advertising and marketing 136,888 140,325
Depreciation and amortisation 93,931 109,358
Utilities 47,063 35,090
Occupancy 37,672 24,070
Technical services for software 36,533 42 562
Repairs and maintenance 30,283 9,740
Travel 26,109 11,900
State duties 24 468 15,991
. Security 23,057 14,634
g Outsourcing 16,253 -
g Communications and information services 11,870 13,005
s Insurance of mortgage loans 10,528 10,920
g Other 102,983 126,326
- 1,181,768 715,176
£ 9 Income tax expense
B 2015 2014
g KZT1°000 KZT000
g Current year tax expense - (2,681)
i Deferred taxation movement due to origination and reversal of
g g temporary differences and movement in valuation allowance (1,670,970) (278,947)
Total income tax expense (1,670,970) (281,628)
= In 2015, the applicable tax rate for current and deferred tax is 20% (2014: 20%).
-
G Reconciliation of effective tax rate for the year ended 31 December:
E. 2015 2014
_ KZT*000 % KZT*000 %
[ Profit before income tax 5,496,792 100 1,465,637 100
g Income tax at the applicable tax rate (1,099,358) (20) (293,127) (20}
_ Tax exempt interest on securities 234 623 4 261,936 18
g Non-deductible impairment losses (149,655) (3) (44,628) 3)
P Other non-deductible expenses (285,586) (5) {205,809) (14)
Change in unrecognised deferred tax
£ assets (370,994} (7} - -
_ {1,670,970) (31) (281,628) (19)
. Deferred tax asset and liability
L Temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
: purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes give rise to net deferred tax assets as at
L. 31 December 2015 and 2014, These deferred tax assets are fully recognised in these consolidated
g financial statements. The future tax benefits will only be realised if profits will be available against
o which the unused tax losses can be utilised and there are no changes to the law and regulations that
; adversely affect the Group’s ability to claim the deductions in future periods.
r” The deductible temporary differences do not expire under current tax legislation. The tax losses
b carry-forward expire in 2019-2023.
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Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 201 5

Income tax expense, continued

Deferred tax asset and liability, continued

Movements in temporary differences during the year ended 31 December 2015 are presented as
follows:

Recognised
1 January in profit or 31 December

KZT*000 2015 loss 2015
Property and equipment (2,073 (46,152) {48,223)
Available-for-sale financial assets - 3,804 3,804
Held-to-maturity investiments 372,456 (372,456) -
Other assets 22,574 (18,897) 3,677
Other borrowed funds (1,079,295  (15,580,208)  (16,659,503)
Deferred income - 15,617,604 15,617,604
Other liabilities 19,372 16,899 36,271
Tax loss carry-forward 2,421,781 (920,570) 1,501,211

1,754,817 {1,299,976) 454,841
Unrecognised deferred tax asset - (370,994) (370,994)

1,754,817 (1,670,970} 83,347

Movements in temporary differences during the year ended 31 December 2014 are presented as
follows:

Recognised
1 January in profit or 31 December
KZT*000 2014 loss 2014
Property and equipment (19,078) 17,007 (2,071)
Held-to-maturity imvestments 334,784 37.672 372,456
Other assets 0,691 15,883 22,574
Debt securities issued 246,550 (246,550) -
Subordinated debt securities issued 39,556 (39,556) -
Other borrowed funds (1,128,410) 49,115 {1,079,295)
Other liabilities 17,875 1,497 19,372
Tax loss carry-forward 2,535,796 (114,015) 2,421,781
2,033,764 (278,947) 1,754,817
Cash and cash equivalents
2015 2014
KZT’600 KZT°000
Nostro accounts with banks
- rated BBB- - 103,012
- rated BB+ 71,503 1,507,662
- rated BB 331 -
- rated BB- 27,241 31,952
- rated B+ 7.932 47.130
- rated B 12,133,102 114,090
- rated B- 14,463,480 5,345,685
- 1ot rated 108,000 89,097
Total nostro accounts with banks 26,811,589 7,238,628
Term deposits with banks
- rated B- - 6,732,153
Total term deposits with banks - 6,732,153
Total cash and cash equivalents 26,811,589 13,970,781

The credit ratings are presented by reference to the credit ratings of Standard&Poor’s credit ratings
agency or analogues of similar international agencies.

None of cash and cash equivalents are impaired or past due.
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Cash and cash equivalents, continued

As at 31 December 2015 the Group has two banks (2014: one bank) whose balances exceed 10%
of equity. The gross value of these balances as at December 2015 is KZT 15,282,914 thousand
(2014: KZT 7,268,667 thousand).

Placement with banks and other financial institutions

2015 2014
KZT000 KZT1°000
- rated BBB 11,718,500 -
- rated BB+ - 1,714,800
- rated B+ 170,005 4,299,200
- rated B 5,448,635 5,199,555
- rated B- - 13,148,204
17,337,140 24,361,759

The credit ratings are presented by reference to the credit ratings of Standard&Poor’s credit ratings
agency or analogues of similar international agencies.

None of the balances are impaired or past due.

As at 31 December 2015 the Group placed term deposits with interest rates ranging from 6% to
9.5% per ammum (2014: 6% to 10.5%) and which have maturities from February 2016 to Oclober
2016 (2014: February 2015 to November 20135).

As at 31 December 2015 the Group has one bank (2014: one bank) whose balance exceeds 10% of
equity. The gross value of this balance as at 31 December 2015 is KZT 11,718,500 thousand
(2014: KZT 5,138,888 thousand).

Available-for-sale financial assets

2015 2014
KZT1°000 KZF000

Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of
Kazakhstan 3,225,575 1,403,163
Corporate bonds rated BBB- 1,153,653 1,217,405
Corporate bonds rated from BB+ to BB- 1,839,440 -
Corporate bonds rated from B+ to B- 2,985,428 2,772,987
Corporate bonds not rated 6,311,514 4,676,364

15,515,610 10,069,919
Impairment allowance (1,555,539) (437,743)

13,960,071 9,632,176

The credit ratings are presented by reference to the credit ratings of Standard&Poor’s credit ratings
agency or analogues of similar international agencies.

Corporate bonds are interest-bearing securities, issued by local companies and banks. These
securities are freely tradable on the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (“IKASE”), except for the bonds of
Rosa JSC (“Rosa™) and Kazakhstan Kagazy JSC (“KK™) with gross amounts of KZT 437,743
thousand and KZT 1,117,796 thousand, respectively (31 December 2014: Rosa of KZT 437,743
thousand). Rosa and KK bonds were excluded from trading on KASE on 2 October 2009 and 13
November 2015, respectively.

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 the Group considers bonds fully impaired as based on its
understanding of the issuers’ financial positions it does not expect probable future cash flows from
the assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

12 Available-for-sale financial assets, continued

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group reclassified debt financial instruments from
held-to-maturity investments to available-for-sale financial assets in the amount of KZT 6,703,614
thousand due to the sale of debt financial instruments from the held to-maturity investments
portfolio prior to maturity. The Group is not allowed to classify any debt financial instruments as
held-to-maturity during the two subsequent financial years.

Analysis of movements in the impairment allowance:

2015 2014
KZ1T000 KZT000
Balance at the beginning of the year 437,143 747,554
Net charge (recovery) 370,743 (111,591}
Transfer from held-to-maturity investments 1,212,139 -
Write-offs {465,086} (198.220)
Balance at the end of the year 1,555,539 437,743

FLoans to customers

Loans to customers comprise mortgage loans purchased from commercial banks and credit
institutions of the Republic of Kazakhstan and mortgage loans issued to individuals. The loans
comprise KZT and USD denominated mortgage loans due from individuals located in the Republic
of Kazakhstan.

2015 2014
KZ17000 KZT 000
Mortgage loans with recourse 19,322 855 25,742,040
Mortpage loans without recourse 65,078,808 63,873,798
Accrued interest 1,118,529 1,061,391
Gross loans to customers 85,520,192 90,677,229
Impairment allowance (3,764,985} (3,484,117}
Net loans to customers 81,755,207 87,193,112

During the year ended 31 December 2015 the Group acquired mortgage loan portfolios from two
commercial banks (2014: two commercial banks). The loans were recorded at their fair value
totalling KZT 4,689,717 thousand (2014: KZT 12,493,704 thousand).
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13 Loans to customers, continued

€1  Credit quality of mortgage loans

The following table provides information on the credit quality of mortgage loans as at
31 December 2015 and 2014:

2015 2014
KZT000 KZT1T°000
Mortgage loans with recourse to the seller
- not overdue 18,367,310 23,787,951
- averdue less than 30 days 615,859 1,616,641
- overdue 30-89 days 375,846 455,270
- overdue 90-179 days 236,839 158,799
- overdue 180-360 days 147,709 71,221
- overdue more than 360 days 105,868 1,554
Total mortgage loans with recourse to the selter 19,849,431 26,091,436
Morigage loans without recourse to the seller
- not overdue 56,565,005 58,447,913
i _ overdue less than 30 days 2,443,116 825,853
_— - overdue 30-89 days 1,534,027 418,567
e - overdue 90-179 days 1,655,251 449,120
£ - overdue 180-360 days 930,885 764,983
- - overdue more than 360 days 2,542,477 3,679,357
E . Total mortgage loans without recourse to the seller 05,670,761 64,585,793
g Impairment allowance on loans without recourse to the seller (3,764,985) (3,484,117}
- Net mortgage loans without recourse to the seller 61,905,776 61,101,676
£ Total loans to customers 85,520,192 90,677,229
g Total impairment allowance on loans to customers (3,764,985) (3,484,117)
= Total net loans to customers 81,755,207 87,193,112

(b} Key assumptions and judgements for estimating loan impairment

5
B
£
As described in Note 2, the Group uses its experience and judgment to estimate the amount of
[ impairment loss for loans to customers.
£ The significant assumptions used in determining the impairiment losses for mortgage loans include:

¢ mortgage loans with recourse overdue more than 60 days can be sold back by the Group at any
time at their gross amount. Management believes that recourse counterparties are institutions
of good reputation, with good credit standing

fomy

ey

e other mortgage loans are subject to collective impairment assessment based on their past loss
experience

e

e loss migration rates are constant and can be estimated based on the historical loss migration

3 pattern for the past 24 months

[ e a delay of two years in obtaining proceeds from the foreclosure of collateral, which is not
- compensated by related interest income, and a discount of 65% to 80% to the originally

£ appraised value if the property pledged is sold through court procedures (2014: 65% to 80%).
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Mortgage Organisation Kazallistan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

I3 Loans to customers, continued

Key assumptions and judgements for estimating loan impairment, continued

Movements in the loan impairment allowance for the year ended 31 December are as follows:

2015 2014
KZT*000 KZT’060
Balance at the beginning of the year 3,484,117 3,333,347
Net charge 280,868 323,436
Write-offs - (172,666)
Balance at the end of the year 3,764,985 3,484,117

Changes in these estimates could affect the loan impairment provision. For example, to the extent
that the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by plus/minus three percent, the
impairment allowance on loans to customers as at 31 December 2015 would be KZT 2,452,656
thousand lower/higher (2014: KZT 2,615,793 thousand).

Analysis of collateral
Mortgage loans are secured by the underlying housing real estate.

For loans with recourse to the seller, the commercial banks-partners are responsible for monitoring
of collateral on a periodic basis according to requirements of the NBRK. The recoverability of these
loans is primarily dependent on the creditworthiness of the borrowers and commercial banks-
partners rather than the value of collateral, and the current value of the collateral does not impact
the impairment assessment.

The following tables provide information on real estate collateral securing mortgage loans, net of
impairment:

Fair value of

Fair value of collateral — for
Loans to collateral —~ for collateral assessed

31 December 2015 ecustomers, collateral assessed as of loan
KZT 000 carrying amount  as of reporting date inception date
Not overdue loans 73,292,311 36,842,306 30,648,126
Overdue loans 8,462,896 3,851,105 2,860,509

81,755,207 40,693,411 33,508,635
31 December 2014
Not overdue loans 82,217,268 39,794,558 39,618,080
Overdue loans 4,975,844 3,090,502 1,709,187

87,193,112 42,585,060 41,327,267

The table above excludes overcollateralisation.

The Group updates the appraised values of collateral obtained at inception of the loans to the current
values considering the approximate changes in property values. The Group may also obtain specific
individual valuation of collateral at each reporting date where there are indications of impairment.

Repossessed property

The Group obtains certain assets by taking possession of collateral for loans to retail customers. As
at 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of such assets was KZT 1,616,538 thousand
(2014: KZT 1,448,710 thousand), which consisted of investment property of KZT 1,275,879
thousand (2014: KZT 1,130,962 thousand) and other assets of KZT 340,659 thousand
(2014: 317,748 thousand).

‘The Group’s policy is to sell these assets as soon as it is practicable, except for investment property.
p’s policy P p
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

Loans to customers, continued

Asset securitisation

Loans to customers with the amount of principal of KZT 25,907,249 thousand
(2014: KZT 36,268,176 thousand) serve as collateral for debt securities issued by the Group. As at
31 December 2015, the carrying amount of these debt securities is XZT 17,967,562 thousand
(31 December 2014: KZT 30,215,082 thousand). Refer to Note 19.

Significant credit exposures

As at 31 December 2015 the Group does not have any banks (2014: one bank) to whom the Group
has recourse in respect of its purchased loans, whose loan exposures exceed 10% of equity, The
gross value of these loans as at 31 December 2014 was KZT 6,427,303 thousand.

Loan maturities

The maturity of the loan portfolio is presented in Note 25(e), which shows the remaining period
from the reporting date to the contractual maturity of the loans.
Iinance lease receivables

The components of net investments in finance lease as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as
follows:

2015 2014
KZT*000 KZT’000

Within one year 2,428,401 330,040
More than one year, but less than five years 9,759,623 1,337,354
More than five years 33,795,555 3,730,309
Minimum lease paynients 45,983,579 5,406,703
Less unearned finance income:

Less than one year {1,249,325) (268.636)
From one to five years (4,737,830) (1,051,298)
More than five years (8,223,547 (1,760,828)
Less unearned finance income, total (14,216,702) (3,0680,812)
Less impairment allowance (338,459) -
Net investment in finance lease 31,434,418 2,325,891

The Group leases out housing real estate under Nurly Zhol and Own programme. These lease
agreements are classified as finance lease under TAS 17 because ownership of the assets gets
transferred to lessees by the end of the lease term, and at the inception the present value of the
minimum lease payments amounts to substantially all of the fair value of the leased assets.

The finance lease agreements for Own programme have a maturity term ranging from 15 to 20
years and bear nominal interest rates of 11.50% and 13.00%. The finance lease agreements for
Nurly Zhol have a maturity term of 20 years and monthly lease payments limited to KZT 1,120 per
square meter for Almaty and Astana cities and KZT 924 per square meter in other regions.

Advances paid under finance lease agreements

Advances paid under finance lease agreements comprise advances made by the Group for housing
real estate to be acquired from third parties. The Group plans to lease it out under finance lease,
once the legal title on the property passes to the Group. As at 31 December 2015 the largest advance
payment was made to Baiterek Development JSC in the amount of KZT 11,905,891 thousand for
construction and property acquisition in Kyzylorda, Pavlodar and Aktobe cities under Nurly Zhol
programme.
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16 Assets to be transferred under finance lease agreements

Assets to be transferred under finance lease agreements include housing real estate, which the Group
intends to transfer to lessees in 2016.

The major portion of the assets relates to assets to be transferred under Nurly Zhol programme.

As at 31 December 2015, the largest micro districts acquired by the Group locate in cities of
Shymbkent, Aktobe, Taraz, Kyzylorda and Aktau in the total amount of KZT 20,797,332 thousand
(2014: micro district in Almaty city in the amount of KZT 2,482,252 thousand).

e
:

ok

~

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents capitalised costs incurred by the Group during construction of
residential real estate in different regions of Kazakhstan as part of “Regions Development till 20207
program approved by the Decree #728 of the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated 28
June 2014 and launched under the President’s “Nurly Zho!” Statement. The Group will lease out
the constructed real estate under finance lease terms approved in this programme.

As at December 31, 2015 the largest construction projects relate 1o construction of micro districts
"SPMK-70" located in Kyzylorda and “Assar” in Shymkent in the amounts of KZT 2,689,464
thousand and KZT 2,592,679 thousand, respectively (2014: micro district “Nursat™ Jlocated in
Shymbkent in the amount of KZT 3,604,204 thousand).

-

18 Other assets

2015 2014
£ KZT000 KZT*000
= Recetvables on loan acquisition transactions 2,742,768 1,009,825
= Recetvable from sale of assets held for sale 1,086,314 1,383,968
é Other receivables 8,903 -
E Total other financial assets 3,837,985 2,393,793
Foreclosed property 340,659 317,748
i Intangible assets 115,245 60,343
g - Other prepayments 81,288 24,054
G Inventory 30,522 22,805
i Other 52,396 56,821
. Impairment allowance (24,860) (7,888)
L Total other non-financial assets 595,250 473,583
g Total other assets 4,433,235 2,867,676
P Receivable from sale of asscts held for sale has been recognised at amorlised cost in the
o consolidated statement of financial position, reflecting fair value of the receivable at origination in
P 2013, Fair value was assessed using an estimated market rate of interest of 12% p.a. The resulting
discount of KZT 124,276 thousand arising at initial recognition was recognised as interest expense
i in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014,
the parties concluded additional agreements in each year further deferring the payments until the
P following year. This resulted in an additional discount of KZT 29,195 thousand and KZT 202,477
thousand, respectively, recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
L Foreclosed property comprises real estate collateral accepted by the Group in exchange for its rights
¥ and obligations under impaired mortgage loans. The Group has not yet determined future use of
this property, whether it is going to be sold or rented out.

frme
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Morigage Organisation Kazaklistan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

Other assets, continued

Analysis of movements in the impairment allowance

2015 2014
KZT*000 KZT*000
Balance at the beginning of the year 7,888 6,137
Net charge 14,106 1,634
Transfer due 1o merger with subsidiaries 2,866 -
Recoveries of previous write-offs - 117
Balance at the end of the year 24,860 7,888

Debt securities issued

Debt securities issued as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 comprised USD and KZT denominated
bonds.

Maturity Effective 2015 2014
Emission date Coupon rate rate KZT*000 KZT000
KZ2C0Y05E529 26.07.2018 6.00% 6.00% 11,706,566 19,360,577
KZ2C0Y07E517 26.07.2020 8.50% 8.50% 10,346,821 10,342,640
0.7%+floating inflation
KZP02Y09C495 10.06.2016  index (limited to 12.0%)  19.05% 9,781,375 9,093,513

1.00%+NBRK refinancing
rate (limited to maximum

KZ2COY0RDY13 23.12.2018 10%, mintmum 6%) 12.62% 8,504,529 8,070,855

KZ2COY0Q5ES03 26.07.2018 8.00% 8.00% 8,181,163 8,176,392
0.01%+floating inflation

KZPC4Y10B547 15.01.2017  index (limited to 7.5%) §.82% 4,805,618 4,611,946
0.01%+{loating inflation

KZPC2Y12B547 10.04.2017  index (limited to 7.5%) £.34% 4,650,295 4,684,926

KZ2C0Y08E218 02.04.2020 7.00% 7.00% 7,121 7,121
3. 7% tHloating inflation

KZP0O5Y06C494 10.12.2015  index (limited to 11%) 17.70% - 7,767,280

KZPC1Y10B543 10.04.2015 6.90% 7.23% - 5,072,954

57,983,488 77,188,204

These obligations are secured by loan agreements with customers and the related real estate
supporting these loans (Note 13) with a principal amount of KZT 25,907,249 thousand
(2014: KZT 36,268,176 thousand).

The floating rate is based on the inflation index for the prior 12 months published by the Statistics
Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan and is revised semi-annually according to the date of issue.

Subordinated debt securities issued

Maturity Effective 2015 2014
Emission date Coupon rate rate KZT000 KZT°000
KZ2COYOSE206 02.04.2017 8.00% 9.76% 9,981,675 9,809,666
9,981,675 9,809,666
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statemenis for the year ended 31 December 2015

Subordinated debt securities issued, continued

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 subordinated debt securities issued comprise unsecured
obligations of the Group. In case of bankruptcy, the repayment of the subordinated debt securities
would be made after repayment in full of all other liabilities of the Group.

Subordinated bonds bear a fixed coupon rate.

Other borrowed funds

2015 2014
KZT1°000 KZT17000
Loans from banks of the Republic of Kazakhstan 21,725,945 25422657
Loan from National Management Holding Baiterek JSC 14,687,024 -
Due to the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan 3,647,704 3,385,864
40,000,673 28,808,521

Asat 31 December 2015 and 2014 the Group has loans from Halyk Saving Bank of Kazakhstan JSC
and SB Sberbank JSC with the principal amount of KZT 14,300,000 thousand and KZT 7,266,667
thousand, respectively, which bear an interest of 8.2% and 9% p.a. and mature in 2017 and 2016
years, respectively.

Amounts due to the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan consist of a loan received in
December 2007 from the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan for the purchase of
mortgage loans from second-tier banks. The loan carries a nominal interest rate of 0.1% per annum
with principal repayable at maturity in December 2027. The fair value of the loan at initial
recognition was estimated by discounting the contractual future cash flows of the loan using
management’s ¢stimate of a long-term market borrowing rate for the Group of 8% p.a.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group received a loan in four tranches for the total
amount of KZT 92,500,000 thousand from the National Management Holding Baiterek JSC under
the programme “Regions Development till 2020 approved by the Decree #728 of the Government
of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated 28 June 2014 and launched under the President’s “Nurly Zhol”
Statement. As set out in the programme, the purpose of the loan is to finance construction and
acquisition of housing real estate to be further leased out under operating and finance leases. The
loan bears a nominal interest rate of 0.15% per annum and matures in January 2045, The repayment
of principal is at maturity. At initial recognition the loan was recognised at fair value measured by
applying a relevant market interest rate to discount the contractual future cash flows. The discount
on this loan of KZT 78,543,224 thousand was recognised as deferred income (Note 22).

Deferred income

2015
KZT1°000
Balance at the beginning of the year -
Deferred income from low-interest rate loans obtained during the period (Note 21) 78,543,224
Amortisation for the year {455,204}
Balance at the end of the year 78,088,020

As at 31 December 2015 the Group recorded as deferred income the benefits of KZT 78,543,224
thousand provided by means of a low interest rate on the loans from National Management Holding
Baiterek JSC. The benefits are to be allocated further by providing leases at favourable rates to
population meeting the criteria specified in the programme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

Other labilities

2015 2014
KZT'000 KZT*000
Payable to ATF Bank JSC for mortgage loans acquired 6,513,141 4,290,135
Interest strip payable 1,503,295 1,654,748
Prepaid loans 503,600 223,318
Loan portfolios servicing fee payable 42 818 44,523
Professional services 11,945 17,560
Total other financial labilities 8,574,799 6,230,284
Contract enforcement fees payable 825,819 153,598
Guarantee fees payable 239,230 12,565
Payables to employees 181,703 104,380
Other taxes payable 62,031 53,653
Other non-financial labilities 142 228 56,302
Total other non-financial liabilities 1,451,011 380,498
Total other liabilities 10,025,810 6,610,782

The amount payable to ATF Bank JSC represents a final instalment payable for certain acquired
mortgage loans (Note 13) which is due upon transfer of loan documentation. Management expects
the transfer to be finalised in 2016,

Interest strip payable represents obligation to return to the original loan issuer a portion of interest
receivable on mortgage loan portfolios acquired from three banks during 2014 and 2013. The Group
is obliged to pay 1.2-1.7% p.a. of the outstanding mortgage loan portfolio on a menthly basis. This
balance does not meet criteria for offsetting and, thus, is recognised as a separate financial liability.

Share capital and reserves
Issued capital and share premium

As at 31 December 20135 and 2014, authorised share capital comprises 13,681,600 ordinary shares,
and issued and outstanding share capital comprises 5,811,380 shares, including treasury shares
{(Note (c) below). All shares have a nominal value of KZT 10 thousand.

Dividends

In accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the Company’s distributable
reserves are limited to the balance of retained earnings as recorded in the Company’s statutory
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs or profit for the period if there is an
accumulated loss brought forward. A distribution cannot be made if this would result in negative
equity or the Company’s insolvency.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, dividends of KZT 355,205 thousand or KZT 63.87 per
ordinary share relating to the previous year results of the Company were declared and paid
(2014: nil).

Treasury shares
As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 the Group held 250,000 of its own shares.
Reserve capital

The Group has established a reserve capital in accordance with a decision of shareholders. As at
31 December 2015 and 2014 the reserve capital amounted to KZT 2,734,447 thousand. This reserve
capital is available for distribution.

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 the shareholders did not make any transfer
from accumulated losses to this reserve capital.
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Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Morigage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 20153

Share capital and reserves, continued
Revaluation reserve for available-for-sale financial assets

The revaluation reserve for available-for-sale financial assets comprises the cumulative net change
in the fair value, until the assets are derecognised or impaired.
Earnings per share

The calculation of earnings per share is based on the profit or loss for the year attributable to
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year.

2015 2014
Profit for the year, in thousand of KZT 3,825,822 1,184,009
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 5,561,380 5,317,456
Basic and diluted earnings per share, in KZT 688 223

Book value per share

Under the listing rules of the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange the Group should present book value per
share in its consolidated financial statements. The book value per share is calculated dividing net
assets less intangible assets by the number of outstanding ordinary shares. As at 31 December 2015
the book value per share was KZT 8,502.30 (2014: KZT 8,065.89).

Risk management

Management of risk is fundamental {o the lending business and is an essential element of the
Group’s operations. The major risks faced by the Group are those related to market risk, which
includes interest rate and currency risks, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Risk management policies and procedures

The Group’s risk management policies aim to identify, analyse and manage the risks faced by the
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to continuously monitor risk levels and
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and procedures are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions, products and services offered and emerging best practice.

The Management Board has overall responsibility for the oversight of the risk management
framework, overseeing the management of key risks and reviewing its risk management policies
and procedures as well as approving significantly large exposures.

The Management Board of the Group is responsible for monitoring and implementation of risk
mitigation measures and making sure that the Group operates within the established risk parameters.
The Head of Risk Department of the Group is responsible for the overall risk management and
compliance functions, ensuring the implementation of common principles and methods for
identifying, measuring, managing and reporting both financial and non-financial risks. She reports
directly to the Deputy Chairman of the Management Board.

The Risk Management Committee develops proposals on assets/liabilities and risk management
based on strategies, policies and procedures approved by the Management Board.

Both external and internal risk factors are identified and managed throughout the Group’s
organisational structure. Particular attention is given to developing risk maps that are used to
identify the full range of risk factors and serve as a basis for determining the level of assurance over
the current risk mitigation procedures. Apart from the standard credit and market risk analysis, the
Risk Management Department monitors financial and non-financial risks by holding regular
meetings with operational units in order to obtain expert judgments in their areas of expertise.
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Mortgage Organisation Kazalklistan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

Risk management, continued

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risks. Market risk arises from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity
financial instruments, which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in
the Ievel of volatility of market prices.

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, whilst optimising the return on risk.

Overall authority for market risk is vested in the Risk Management Committee.

The Group manages its market risk by setting open position limits in relation to financial
instruments, interest rate maturity and currency positions and stop-loss limits. These are monitored
on a regular basis and reviewed and approved by the Management Board.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group is exposed to the effects of
fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows.
Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may also reduce or create losses in
the event that unexpected movements occur.
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Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

Risk management, continued
Marlket risk, continued

Interest rate risk, continued
Average interest rates

The table below displays average effective interest rates for interest bearing assets and liabilities as
at 31 December 2015 and 2014. These interest rates are an approximation of the yields to maturity
of these assets and liabilities.

2015 2014
Average effective interest Average effective interest
rate, % rate, %
KZT UsDh KZT usn

Interest bearing assets
Cash and cash equivalents 13.72 3.50 10.36 -
Placement with banks and other
financial institutions 9.50 6.05 0.38 5.89
Available-for-sale financial assets 7.56 - 8.46 -
Loans to customers i11.93 13.85 11.31 13.84
Finance lease receivables 4.17 - 12.36 -
Held-to-maturity investments - - 6.82 6.07
Interest bearing liabilities
Debt securities issued 10.00 - 10.12 -
Subordinated debt securities issued 9.76 - 9.76 -
Other borrowed funds 7.34 - 8.55 -

The Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates
on its financial position and cash flows. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes
but may also reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected movements occur.

Interest rate risk arises when the actual or forecasted assets of a given maturity period are either
greater or less than the actual or forecasted liabilities in that maturity period.

Interest rates sensitivity analysis

The management of interest rate risk based on interest rate gap analysis is supplemented by
monitoring the sensitivity of financial assets and liabilities. An analysis of sensitivity of profit or
loss and equity (net of taxes) to changes in interest rate (repricing risk) based on a simplified
scenario of a 100 basis point (bp) symmetrical fall or rise in all yield curves and positions of interest-
bearing assets and liabilities existing as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

2015 2014
KZT000 KZT*000
Profit or loss Equity Profit or loss Equity
100 bp parallel rise (134,696) (134,696) (28,345) (28,345)
100 bp parallel fall 134,696 134,696 28,345 28,345
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25 Risk management, continued
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Market risk, continued

Interest rate risk, continued
Interest rates sensitivity analysis, continued

An analysis of sensitivity of profit or loss and equity as a result of changes in the fair value of
financial instruments at fair value though profit or loss and financial assets available-for-sale due
to changes in the interest rates based on positions existing as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 and a
simplified scenario of a 100 basis point (bp) symmetrical fall or rise in all yield curves is as follows:

2015 2014
IKZT*060 KZT*0600
Profit or loss Equity Profit or loss Equity
100 bp parallel rise - (367,944} - (383,589)
100 bp parallel fall - 389,936 - 411,084

Currency risk
The Group has assets and liabilities denominated in USD.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group does not hedge its exposure to
currency risk.

The following table shows the foreign currency exposure structure of financial assets and labilities
as at 31 December 2015 and 2014:

UsSp
2015 2014
KZT* 00 KZT°000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 330,334 1,704,444
Placement with banks and other financial institutions 5,618,640 11,133,852
Loans to customers 12,422,513 9,692,408
Held-to-maturity investments - 2,430,468
Other assets 2,556,944 1,257,735
Total financial assets 20,928,431 26,218,907
Liabilities

Debt securities issued 11,706,566 19,360,577
Other liabilities 4,826,602 2,605.306
Total financial liabilities 16,533,168 21,905,883
Net on and off balance sheet position 4,395,263 4,253,024

A change in the value of the KZT, as indicated below, against the following currencies at
31 December 2015 and 2014 would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the
amounts shown below. This analysis is on net of tax basis and is based on foreign currency exchange
rate varjances that the Group considered to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period.
The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

2015 2014
KZT’000 KZT’000
Profit or Profit or
loss Equity loss Equity
20% appreciation of USD against KZT 703,242 703,242 680,484 680,484
5% depreciation of USD against KZT (175811} (175,811 (170,121) (170,121)
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Risk management, continued
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Group has policies and procedures for the
management of credit exposures (both for recognised financial assets and unrecognised contractual
commitments), including guidelines to limit portfolio concentration and the establishment of a
Credit Committee, which actively monitors credit risk. The credit policy is reviewed and approved
by the Management Board.

The Group’s credit policy establishes:
o procedures for review and approval of loan/credit applications
o methodology for the credit assessment of borrowers

¢ methodology for the credit assessment of counterparties, issuers and insurance companies
e methodology for the evaluation of coilateral

o minimum financial and collateral requirements for loan approvals

e credit documentation requirements

¢ procedures for the ongoing monitoring of loans and other credit exposures.

The main task of credit risk management is the application of a weighted credit policy, considering
profitability with safety of asset allocation at purchase of mortgage loans and control over position
of loan portfolio based on in-depth, objective, complete and qualified monitoring.

Susceptibility to credit risk is controlled by obtaining high quality collateral, the receipt of a
guarantees and obtaining recourse to the seller of the loans.

The Group’s maximwm exposure to credit risk is generally reflected in the carrying amounts of
financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position and unrecognised contractual
commitment amounts. The impact of possible netting of assets and liabilities to reduce potential
credit exposure is not significant.

The maximum exposure to credit risk from financial assets at the reporting date is as follows:

2015 2014
KZT000 KZT1°000

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 26,811,589 13,970,781
Placements with banks and other financial institutions 17,337,140 24,361,759
Available-for-sale financial assets 13,960,071 9,632,176
Loans to customers 81,755,207 87,193,112
Finance lease receivables 31,434,418 2,325,891
Held-to-maturity investments - 10,231,995
Other financial assets 3,837,985 2,393,793
Total maximum exposure 175,136,410 156,109,507

For the analysis of collateral held against loans to customers and concentration of credit risk in
respect of loans to customers refer to Note 13.

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 the Group has no debtors or groups of connected debtors, credit
risk exposure to whom exceeds 10% of maximum credit risk exposure.
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Risk management, continued
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity
risk exists when the maturities of assets and liabilities do not match. The matching and or controlled
mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to liquidity
mianagement. It is unusual for financial institutions ever to be completely matched since business
transacted is ofien of an uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched position potentially
enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses.

The Group maintains liquidity management with the objective of ensuring that funds will be
available at all times to honour all cash flow obligations as they become due. The Group’s liquidity
policy is reviewed and approved by the Management Board.

The Group seeks to actively support a diversified and stable funding base comprising debt securities
in issue, long-term and short-term loans from other banks, accompanied by diversitied portfolios of
highly liquid assets, in order to be able to respond quickly and smoothly to unforeseen liquidity
requirements.

The liquidity management policy of the Group requires:

° projecting cash flows by major currencies and considering the level of liquid assets necessary
in relafion thereto

® maintaining a diverse range of funding sources
e managing the concentration and profile of debts
e maintaining debt financing plans

e maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection
against any interruption to cash flow

e maintaining liquidity and funding contingency plans

e monitoring liquidity ratios against regulatory requirements.
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Mortgage Organisation Kazalkhstan Morigage Company JSC
Naotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
Capital management

The Decree of the NBRK #254 of 25 July 2003 establishes the Company’s status as a financial
agency, for which the NBRK. determines statutory capital ratios.

The Company defines as capital the following items defined by statutory regulation as capital for
mortgage companies:

Tier 1 capital, which is comprised of ordinary share capital, share premium, prior periods’ statutory
retained earnings/accumulated losses and reserves created thereof and preference shares (within
15% of ordinary share capital) less intangible assets and current year statutory losses;

Tier 2 capital is required for the purposes of calculation of total capital and is comprised of current
year’s statutory income, revaluation reserves, preference shares (in excess of 15% of ordinary share
capital), qualifying subordinated liabilities and collective impairment allowance in the amount not
exceeding 1.25% of credit risk-weighted assets,

Total capital, which is the sum of tier 1 capital and tier 2 capital (in the amount not exceeding tier
1 capital) less investments into equity or subordinated debt.

Varjous further limits and qualifying criteria are applied to the above elements of the capital base.
Under the current capital requirements set by the NBRK mortgage companies have to maintain:
- aratio of tier 1 capital to total statutory assets (k1);

- aratio of tier 1 capital to the sum of credit risk-weighted assets and contingent liabilities
(k1-2);

- aratio of total capital to the sum of credit risk-weighted assets and contingent liabilities and
a quantitative measure of operational risk (k1-3).

2015 2014
KZT000 KZT°000

Tier 1 capital

Share capital 55,528,939 55,528,939
General reserves 2,734 447 2,734,447
Additional paid-in capital 5,822,856 5,822,856
Statutory accumulated losses (18,788,692) (19,610,929}
Total tier 1 capital 45,297,550 44,475,313
Tier 2 capital

Reserves on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets (1,718,834) {730,235
Subordinated debt securities issued 3,913,559 5,767,133
Net profit for the year in accordance with the NBRK requirements 3,821,122 1,177,442
Total tier 2 capital 6,015,797 6,214,340
Investments in subsidiaries - 554,291
Total capital 51,313,347 50,135,362
Total statutory assets 243,539,454 167,419,116
Credit risk weighted assets and contingent liabilities 157,515,136 145,279,951
k1 ratio 19% 27%
k1-2 ratio 29% 31%
k%-3 ratio 33% 35%
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Mortgage Organisation Kazalkhstan Morigage Company JS5C
Notes fo the Consolidated Financial Steatements jor the year ended 31 December 2015

Capital management, continued

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 the minimum level of ratios as applicable to the Company are
as follows:

- ki - 6%

- k1-2  -6%

- k1-3 ~12%.
Contingencies

Insurance

The insurance industry in the Republic of Kazakhstan is in a developing state and many forms of
insurance protection common in other parts of the world are not yet generally available. The Group
does not have full coverage for its premises and equipment, business interruption, or third party
liability in respect of property or environmental damage arising from accidents on Group’s property
or refating to the Group’s operations. Until the Group obtains adequate insurance coverage, there is
arisk that the loss or destruction of certain assets could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
operations and financial position.

Litigation

In the ordinary course of business, the Group is subject to legal actions and complaints.
Management believes that the ultimate Hability, if any, arising from such actions or complaints, will
not have a material adverse effect on the financial conditions of the results of future operations of
the Group.

Taxation contingencies

The taxation system in the Kazakhstan continues to evolve and is characterised by frequent changes
in legislation, official pronouncements and court decisions, which are sometimes contradictory and
subject to varying interpretation by different tax authorities. Taxes are subject to review and
investigation by a number of authorities, which have the authority to impose severe fines, penalties
and interest charges. A tax year remains open for review by the tax authorities during the five
subsequent calendar years; however, under certain circumstances a tax year may remain open
longer. Recent events within the Republic of Kazakhstan suggest that the tax authorities are taking
amore assertive position in their interpretation and enforcement of tax legislation.

These circumstances may create tax risks in the Republic of Kazakhstan that are substantially more
significant than in other countries. Management believes that it has provided adequately for tax
liabilities based on its interpretations of applicable Kazakhstan tax legislation, official
pronouncements and court decisions. However, the interpretations of the relevant authorities could
differ and the effect on the financial position of the Group, if the authorities were successful in
enforcing their interpretations, could be significant.
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Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

28 Related party transactions

)

(b)

Transactions with the members of the Management Board and Board of Directors

Total remuneration included in personnel expenses is as follows (refer to Note 7):

2015 2014
KZT*000 KzT1*000
Members of the Board of Directors 39,398 4,240
Members of the Management Board 88,963 101,422
128,361 105,662

The above amounts include cash and non-cash benefits in respect of the members of the
Management Board and Board of Directors.

The outstanding balances and average interest rates as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 for
transactions with the members of the Management Board and the Board of Directors are as follows:

2015 Average interest 2014 Average interest
KZT°000 rate, % KZ71°000 rate, %o
Consolidated statement of financial position
Loans to customers 7,629 8.50 49,301 6.79
Other liabilities 26,280 - 30,308 -

Amounts included in profit or loss in relation to transactions with the members of the Management
Board and the Board of Directors for the year ended 31 December are as follows:

2015 2014
KZT000 KAT000

Profit or loss

Interest income 672 3,487

Transaction with other related parties

Otbher related parties include Baiterek and its subsidiaries (together the “Baiterek Group®) and other
State organisations.

The amounts below are included in the statement of financial position, income statement and
statement of comprehensive income for transactions with related parties as of 31 December 2015
and 2014:

2015 2015 2014 2014
KZT°000 KZ7T000 KZT°000 KZT’°000
Baiterek State Baiterek State
Group organisations Group organisations
Consolidated statement of profit or
foss
Interest income 218,500 277,051 - 219,512
Interest expense (3,123,590) (3,941,800) (2,692,846) (4,021,522)
Commission expense - (2,915) - (2,131)
Net foreign exchange loss (12,075,385) - - -
Net loss from repurchase of debt
securities issued (1,718) - (65,424} -
Other income 6,977 9,432 5,895 19,241
General administrative expenses (111,028) (624,912) - (244,664}
Income tax expense - (1,670,970) - (281,628)
Other comprehensive income
Net change in fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets - (172,472) - (14,107)
49



Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

28 Related party transactions, continued

€b)  Transaction with other related parties, continued

The balances with related parties as of 31 December 2015 include:

Baiterek Group State organisations
Average Average
interest rate, interest rate,
KZT000 % KZT000 Yo
%‘”ﬁ Placements with banks and other
financial institutions 11,718,500 9.50 - -
P Available-for-sale financial assets - - 4,379,229 6.06
- Current tax asset - - 2,310,235 -
g Advances paid under finance lease
s agreements 11,905,891 - - -
E Deferred tax asset - - 83,847 -
E”“ Other assets 4 - 41,782 -
Debt securities issued 18,910,349 6.51 28,290,232 10.16
E Subordinated debt securities issued - - 3,339,120 9.76
oy Other borrowed funds 14,687,024 7.01 3,647,704 8.00
L Other liabilities 110,880 - 64,194 -
E Revaluation reserve for available-for-
- sale financial assets - - (297,554) -
£ The balances with related parties as of 31 December 2014 include:
Es Baiterek Group State organisations
E Average Average
interest rate, interest rate,
E KZT000 % KZT1°000 %Yo
Available-for-sale financial assets - - 2,620,568 6.97
g: Held-to maturity investments - - 2,012,242 3.48
_ Current tax asset - - 1,310,488 -
g # Deferred tax asset - - 1,754,817 -
E_ Other assets 153 - 12,855 -
Debt securities issued 29,311,969 9.34 36,290,307 11.00
;’%j Subordinated debt securities issued - - 3,281,578 9.96
- Other borrowed funds - - 3,385,804 8.00
L. Other liabilities - - 33,171 -
E Revaluation reserve for available-for-
sale financial assets - - (124,831) -
L.

[
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Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 3] December 20135

Financial assets and liabilities: fair values and accounting classification,
continued

Accounting classifications and fair values, continued

The estimates of fair value are intended to approximate the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. However given the uncertainties and the use of subjective judgment, the fair
value should not be interpreted as being realisable in an immediate sale of the assets or settlement
of liabilities.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on
quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For all other financial instrumenis the Group
determines fair values using other valuation techniques.

The objective of valuation techniques is 1o arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price
that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaciion
between market participants at the measurement date.

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison to
similar instruments for which market observable prices exist and other valuation models.
Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates,
credit spreads and other premium used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign
currency exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price volatilities and
correlations. The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value determination that
reflects the price of the financial instrument at the reporting date that would have been determined
by market participants acting at arm’s length.

The Group uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of common and
more simple financial instruments, like interest rate and currency swaps that use only observable
market data and require little management judgment and estimation. Observable prices and model
mputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities.

For more complex instruments, the Group uses proprietary valuation models. Some or all of the
significant inputs into these models may not be observable in the market, and are derived from
market prices or rates or are estimated based on assumptions. Example of instruments involving
significant unobservable inputs includes certain loans and securities for which there is no active
market.

The estimates of fair value are intended to approximate the amount for which a financial instrument
can be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction. However
given the uncertainties and the use of subjective judgment, the fair value should not be interpreted
as being realisable in an immediate sale of the assets or settlement of liabilities.

Fair value hierarchy

The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements:

e Level 1: quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.

e Level 2: inputs other than quotes prices included within Level 1 that are observable either
directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e, derived from prices). This category includes
instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted
prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other
valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from
market data.

¢ Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments where the valuation
technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a
significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are
valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant unobservable
adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments.
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Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan Morigage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

2)  Financial assets and liabilities: fair values and accounting classification,

b

continued
Fair value hierarchy, continued

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at 31 December 2015 and
2014, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised.
The amounts are based on the values recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position:

2015 2014
Level 2 Level 2
KZT 000 KZT000
Financial assets
Available-for-sale financiai assets 13,960,071 9.632,176
13,960,071 9,632,176

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 the Group does not have any financial instruments for which
fair value is based on valuation techniques involving the use of non-market observable inputs.

The following table analyses the fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value, by
the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorised as at
31 Pecember 2015:

Total fair Total carrying
KZT000 Level 2 values amount
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 26,811,589 26,811,589 26,811,589
Placements with banks and ather
financial institutions 17,337,140 17,337,140 17,337,140
Loans to customers 79,653,830 79,653,830 81,755,207
Finance lease receivables 31,434,418 31,434,418 . 31,434,418
Liabilities
Debt securities issued 55,226,331 55,226,331 57,983,488
Subordinated debt securities issued 9,161,180 9,161,180 0,981,675
Other borrowed funds 38,599,256 38,599,256 40,060,673
Deferred income 78,088,020 78,088,020 78,088,020
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Morigage Organisation Kazakhstan Mortgage Company JSC
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

29 TFinancial assets and liabilities: fair values and accounting classification,
continued

(b)  Fair value hierarchy, continued

The following table analyses the fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value, by
the level in the fair value hicrarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorised as at
31 December 2014

Total
Total fair carrying
KZT°800 Level 2 Level 3 values amount
. Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 13,970,781 - 13,970,781 13,970,781
g_ Placements with banks and other
financial institutions 24.361,759 - 24,361,759 24,361,759
i Loans to customers 85,892,121 . 85,892,121 87,193,112
Finance lease receivables 2,325,891 - 2,325,891 2,325,891
g . Held-to-maturity investments 9,505,122 353,080 9,858,202 10,231,995
gy Liabilities
E.. Debt securities issued 71,798,714 - 71,798,714 77,188,204
g Subordinated debt securities
issued 9,942,134 - 9,942,134 9,809,666
g Other borrowed funds 27,758,068 - 27,758,068 28,808,521
g .
L 30 Segment reporting
P The Group’s operations are highly integrated and constitute a single business segment for the

purposes of IFRS 8 Segment Reporting. The Group’s assets are concentrated in the Republic of
i Kazakhstan, and the Group’s revenues are derived from operations in, and connected with, the
. Republic of Kazakhstan. The Chief Operating Decision Maker, in the case of the Group, the
i, Chairman of the Management Board, only receives and reviews the information on the Group as a
whole.
E

)

g

g
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